IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC04-

802

2d DCA No. 2D04-

v.

1049

Lower Tribunal No. 03-

02280CFAES

ALFREDIE STEELE,

Respondent.

_____ /

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE SECOND DISTRICT
STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL

CANDANCE M. SABELLA

Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Capital Appeals
Florida Bar No. 0445071
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Defendant Steele was charged by Indictment filed June 18, 2003, with first degree murder of a Pasco Sheriff's Deputy on June 1, 2003, by shooting him in the back with a high-powered firearm while he sat in his patrol car in the early morning hours before daylight. (Petitioner's Exhibit 2)¹

On September 15, 2003, the Defendant filed a pretrial Motion to Bar Imposition of Death Sentence as unconstitutional,

¹ Exhibits referred to are those exhibits attached in the appendix to the State's Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Writ of Prohibition and Request for Stay, filed March 11, 2004 in the Second District Court of Appeal and are included in the record on appeal. As the State was not furnished a copy of that record, the exhibits will be designated as they were in the court below.

pursuant to Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002). A hearing was held on the motion on January 8, 2004 (Pet. Exh. 4) and the motion was denied by an order dated February 10, 2004. (Pet. Exh. 1) Despite rejecting the claim that Florida's capital sentencing procedure is unconstitutional under Ring, the circuit judge, nevertheless, first suggested and then imposed requirements which she felt would "cure the constitutional issues." (Pet. Exh. 4, pp. 8, 10, 17-18) The circuit court, *sua sponte*, granted relief, unrequested in the Defendant's Motion, requiring the State to provide notice of the aggravating factors it would argue and requiring completion of interrogatory verdict forms as to which aggravators were found by the jurors to have been established beyond a reasonable doubt and the vote on each. The State objected. (Pet. Exh. 4, pp. 34-35)

The State sought the review of the Second District Court of Appeal to reverse the circuit court's order requiring the State to provide notice of aggravators it will argue and requiring interrogatory verdict forms to specify which aggravators were found by the jury and the vote thereon. On April 23, 2004, the Second District issued its opinion agreeing that the trial court's order requiring the State to provide notice of aggravators departs from the essential requirements of law. With regard to the State's challenge to the special verdict

forms, the Second District found that the order does not depart from the essential requirements of the law.

Because this ruling may affect many cases that may ultimately be reviewed by the Florida Supreme Court, the District Court certified the foregoing questions.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The two certified questions should be answered in the affirmative as this Court has consistently rejected challenges to Florida's death penalty statute based on Ring. Accordingly, the trial court's *sua sponte* decision to fashion remedies to what it perceived were infirmities in the statute should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES A TRIAL COURT DEPART FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW, IN A DEATH PENALTY CASE, BY REQUIRING THE STATE TO PROVIDE PRE-GUILT OR PRE-PENALTY PHASE NOTICE OF AGGRAVATING FACTORS?

The State sought discretionary review in the Second District Court of Appeals of two rulings by the trial court. After reviewing the lower court's order, the district court reversed the trial court's order requiring the State to give notice of the aggravators. Although the district court found that this portion of the order departed from the essential requirements of the law, it certified the following question to this Court.

(1) DOES A TRIAL COURT DEPART FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW, IN A DEATH PENALTY CASE, BY REQUIRING THE STATE TO PROVIDE PRE-GUILT OR PRE-PENALTY PHASE NOTICE OF AGGRAVATING FACTORS?

The district court's basis for reversing the lower court's order was set forth as follows:

In Vining v. State, 637 So. 2d 921 (Fla. 1994), the Florida Supreme Court held that because the aggravating factors to be considered in determining the propriety of a death sentence are limited to those set out in section 921.141(5), Florida Statutes (1987), there is no reason to require the State to notify defendants prior to trial or the penalty phase of the aggravating factors that it intends to prove. The United States Supreme Court's decision in Ring does not affect the holding in Vining because Ring does not require the State to provide notice of aggravators. See Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54

(Fla. 2003). Therefore, the trial court's order requiring the State to provide notice of aggravators departs from the essential requirements of law. See State v. Richman, 861 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Hodges, 855 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

State v. Steele, 872 So. 2d 364 (Fla. 2004)

The State urges this Court to answer the first certified question in the affirmative and affirm the district court's holding as to this issue for the following reasons.²

It is the State's position that the trial court's *sua sponte* fashioning of its own remedy for the constitutional infirmities that Steele urged resulted from the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), was a departure from the essential requirements of law. It is incontestable that this Court has repeatedly held that Florida's death sentencing statute, Sec. 921.141, remains constitutional in the wake of challenges raised pursuant to Ring, and that Florida law does not require either notice of the aggravating factors that will be presented by the State, or special verdict

² The standard of review for certiorari requires a showing of "departure from the essential requirements of the law" or "a violation of a clearly established principle of law resulting in a miscarriage of justice." Allstate Ins. Co. v. Kaklamanos, 843 So. 2d 885, 889 (Fla. 2003). The standard of review for the pure questions of law is *de novo*. D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003), citing Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000).

forms to record which aggravators were found by the jury and the vote thereon. Kormondy v. State, 845 So. 2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003) (“Ring does not require either notice of the aggravating factors that the State will present at sentencing or a special verdict form indicating the aggravating factors found by the jury.”) See also Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 378 (Fla.), cert. denied, 124 S. Ct. 189 (2003); Vining v. State, 637 So. 2d 921 (Fla. 1994); Patten v. State, 598 So. 2d 60 (Fla. 1992); Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989); Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1070 (2002); King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla.), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1067 (2002).

Even before Ring, this Court consistently rejected arguments that either prior notice of the aggravators or a unanimous vote by the jurors was required. Gore v. State, 475 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 1985); Patten, supra; Brown v. Moore, 800 So. 2d 223, 225 (Fla. 2001); Cole v. State, 841 So. 2d 409, 429-30 (Fla. 2003); Lewis v. Moore, 838 So. 2d 1102, 1122 (Fla. 2002); Hurst v. State, 819 So. 2d 689, 702-03 (Fla. 2002). See King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 2002); Bottoson v. State, 813 So. 2d 31, 36 (Fla.), cert. denied, 536 U.S. 962 (2002).

Additionally, this Court has unanimously rejected a rule amendment that would have required reciprocal pretrial delineation of aggravating and mitigating circumstances.

Amendments to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220(h), 700 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1997). In its opinion rejecting the proposed rule, this Court acknowledged the unfair prejudice to the State of potentially having aggravating factors excluded when there was little likelihood that any similar sanctions would or could be imposed upon the defense.

This Court has also held that Sec. 921.141(5) sufficiently informs a defendant of the aggravators he must defend against to obviate any necessity for the State to give notice of the aggravators it will rely on. Vining, supra; Lynch, supra. Because Florida's capital sentencing statute does not make the death sentence an enhancement of a life sentence, the aggravators are not elements of a charged offense for which a defendant must receive notice to afford due process. Bottoson, supra; Mills v. Moore, 786 So. 2d 532, 538 (Fla. 2001).

Moreover, even though there is no constitutional right to pretrial discovery, Perry v. State, 395 So. 2d 170 (Fla. 1980), the Florida rules of procedure have, since 1972, provided for a broad process of reciprocal discovery that may be invoked by the defense. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220 (2003). Under this rule, the State must provide the defense with a list of all witnesses with relevant information, allow access to all evidence either taken from the accused or intended to be used at trial, disclose

statements of witnesses and the defendant and reveal the results of expert examinations and scientific tests. In addition, Florida was one of the first states to allow full pretrial depositions of virtually all witnesses in felony cases, a right that applies equally to the guilt and penalty phases of a capital trial.

Thus, a capital defendant in Florida has far more rights and a far better opportunity to prepare for trial and sentencing than in many other jurisdictions in the United States - not as a matter of constitutional right, but by the courtesy of this Court's rule-making authority. For the trial court to rule that the federal constitution requires more, is a clear departure from existing precedent and an unwarranted denigration of the federal and state judicial systems that provide more limited discovery rights.

Since this Court continues to hold that aggravating factors are not elements of capital murder that must be alleged in the indictment, the trial court's ruling imposes an unwarranted additional discovery burden upon the State that cannot be matched by any reciprocal burden upon the defense to plead the mitigating circumstances they intend to present.³ The trial

³ To achieve a reciprocal balance and require notice of mitigating evidence potentially violates the dictates of Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), which precludes

court's imposition of this burden only upon the State insures the imbalance of obligation and remedy that so troubled the Supreme Court. This is a harm that cannot be belatedly corrected by a post trial appeal and which should therefore be remedied through interlocutory review.

For individual circuit courts to require more than has been held by the Florida Supreme Court to satisfy Florida statutory and constitutional law and U.S. constitutional law is also an unlawful intrusion into the prosecutorial function, in requiring the State to give prior notice of aggravators it will rely on, and into the legislative branch of government, in requiring special verdict forms as to aggravating factors found and the vote thereon. See State v. Jordan, 630 So. 2d 1171 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (order requiring State to answer interrogatories to reveal its decision to seek the death penalty was quashed and certiorari granted). This Court has recognized that a state attorney has absolute discretion in whether and how to prosecute. State v. Bloom, 497 So. 2d 2, 3 (Fla. 1986); State v. Cain, 381 So. 2d 1361, 1368 (Fla. 1980) (see especially note

limiting mitigating circumstances presented to the jury. Similarly, the requirement that jurors specify the vote with regard to each aggravator could potentially have a chilling effect on the deliberative process, interfering with the jury's obligation to conduct an individualized sentencing determination contrary to Hitchcock.

8, "the courts are not to interfere with the free exercise of the discretionary powers of the prosecutor in his control over criminal prosecutions").

In Bloom, the Court reversed a trial judge's decision not to impanel a death-qualified jury, based on the judge's determination that the death penalty would not apply on the facts of the case. In holding that this determination unconstitutionally infringed upon an exclusively executive function, the Court noted that approval of such a pretrial determination would require a modification of Sireci v. State, 399 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 984 (1982), which recognized that the State need not divulge the intended aggravating factors.

The State urges this Court to affirm the district court's decision that the trial court's order departed from the essential requirements of the law and to answer the question in the affirmative.

ISSUE II

DOES A TRIAL COURT DEPART FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW, IN A DEATH PENALTY CASE, BY USING A PENALTY PHASE SPECIAL VERDICT FORM THAT DETAILS THE JURORS' DETERMINATION CONCERNING AGGRAVATING FACTORS FOUND BY THE JURY?

In addition to ordering the State to provide pretrial notice of the aggravators, the trial court also fashioned its own remedy for any potential Ring errors by ordering special verdict forms for the jury with regard to its penalty phase findings. The district court rejected the State's argument, finding that since Florida law does not specifically prohibit a trial judge from using a special verdict form such as the one ordered here, the trial court's order as to the special verdict form does not depart from the essential requirements of law. Nevertheless, since the ruling could affect many cases that are solely within the jurisdiction of this Court, the court also certified the foregoing question. The State asks this Court to find that it is a departure from the essential requirements of law, in a death penalty case, to use a penalty phase special verdict form that details the jurors' determination concerning aggravating factors found by the jury.

The district court correctly states that Florida law does not specifically prohibit a trial judge from using a special

verdict form. However, it is well recognized that trial courts should adhere to the standard instructions in the absence of extraordinary circumstances. cf. Speights v. State, 668 So. 2d 316, 318 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) Those extraordinary circumstances were not present in the instant case as this Court has consistently rejected any claim that Ring calls for special verdict forms. Moreover, there was no request for a special verdict form. The suggestion was made by the trial judge in order to fashion a remedy to a problem that does not exist. Thus, while it may be appropriate in some cases where particular factual issues require a trial court to depart from the standard instructions, this is not such a case. The departure from the standard instructions here was a result of the trial judge's incorrect view of the law as it applies to death penalty proceedings and was not on facts unique to this case that would require discretion on the trial judge's part.

Accordingly, the trial court's ruling erroneously creates new law by changing the deliberative process of the jurors established in 921.141(2), reflected in the Jury Instructions for Penalty Proceedings in capital cases, in a substantive way, and improperly invades the jury's province. Compare Powell v. Allstate Insurance Co., 652 So. 2d 354 (Fla. 1995). The statute requires the jurors to render their advisory sentence based only

on "(a) Whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist . . . ; (b) Whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist which outweigh the aggravating circumstances found to exist; and (c) Based on these considerations, whether the defendant should be sentenced to life imprisonment or death." The trial court's order improperly expands the advisory function of the jurors, beyond that established by the statute and standard jury instruction, to also inform the judge of which aggravating factors were found and by what vote.

The requirement of the proposed special verdict form constitutes an impermissible intrusion on the deliberation of the jury. Said intrusion serves no lawful or necessary purpose related to the advisory sentence submitted to the court. Under Florida's statutory sentencing procedures for death penalty cases, it is the court that determines what a proper sentence should be. It is the court that is required to review the advisory sentence of the jury, make the requisite weighing of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, and then if a death penalty is imposed, set forth in writing the court's findings upon which the sentence of death is based. The change in procedure mandated by the lower court's ruling could have the undesirable result of the judge's rubber stamping the jury recommendation rather than conducting the independent weighing

required by Florida law. See Ross v. State, 386 So. 2d 1191 (Fla. 1980).

Trial courts are required by statute to clearly state their findings of fact showing that sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh the aggravating circumstances. Said findings must be based upon the circumstances of subsections (5) and (6) of Sec. 921.141 and upon the records of the trial and sentencing proceedings and not on the number of juror votes each aggravator receives. Nor should they be. Thus, the trial court's deviation from the law only serves to obtain facts that are not relevant to Florida's sentencing procedure.

The special verdict form is outside the capital sentencing statute, the procedural rules and contradicts the standard jury instruction that "it is not necessary that the advisory sentence of the jury be unanimous." Standard Jury Instruction 7.11 Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1990) (unanimous agreement upon the existence of specific aggravating factors is not required.) Accord James v. State, 453 So. 2d 786, 792 (Fla.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984); Alvord v. State, 322 So. 2d 533, 536 (Fla. 1975), cert. denied, 428 U.S. 923 (1976).⁴

⁴ The United States Supreme Court agrees that the jury is not required to unanimously concur on a single theory. See Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624 (1991).

Accordingly, the judge's proposed plan to record the number of votes for each factor can only result in confusion for the penalty phase jury by erroneously suggesting that a certain number of votes are necessary for each factor before it can be considered in the ultimate recommendation. The potential for this confusion is balanced against having factual findings that this Court has already deemed unnecessary.

The State recognizes that at least three members of the Court have urged reevaluation of the standard penalty-phase instructions and verdict form in light of Ring, Globe v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S119 (Fla. March 18, 2004) (Pariente, J., specially concurring with Anstead, C.J., and Lewis, J., concurring), but notes that such a change in procedure would be contrary to the death penalty statute. As this Court has consistently recognized, a statute may only be construed consistent with legislative intent and will not be rewritten by the court. State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687 (Fla. 1980); Brown v. State, 358 So. 2d 16, 20 (Fla. 1978). Nowhere in Section 921.141 does it provide for the jury to make findings with regard to aggravating factors. In fact, as previously noted, that burden is placed squarely on the shoulders of the trial judge. There is no legal basis for the trial court or this Court to rewrite that statute in order to cure any issues that

may or may not result from Ring. As the Defendant's Motion expresses it is violative of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and Article I, sections 9 and 17 of the Florida Constitution for trial judges "to improvise their own remedies" and for defendants to be "sentenced to death under procedures that literally vary from judge to judge." (Pet. Exh. 3, p. 12) Since Sec. 921.141 has been held to be constitutional, there are no infirmities to be remedied.

Accordingly, the State urges this Court to find that the trial court has departed from essential requirements of the law in fashioning what she perceived to be a remedy which would satisfy Defendant's allegations of unconstitutionality. These are changes that should only be imposed by legislation and later implementive court rules, not by individual trial judges.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, the two certified questions should be answered in the affirmative and this Court should affirm the finding of the Second District with regard to the trial court's order requiring the State to divulge the aggravating factors being considered and reverse the district court's affirmance of the trial court's order requiring the jury to answer special

interrogatory forms of which aggravators were found and by what vote.