IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Petitioner,	CASE NO. SC04-802 Second DCA No. 2D04-1049 Lower Court No. 03-02280CFAES
v.	Pasco County Circuit Court
ALFREDIE STEELE,	
Respondent/Defendant.	

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

BOB DILLINGER
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

By: Joy K. Goodyear
Assistant Public Defender
Florida Bar Number: 0159972

ATTORNEY FOR

RESPONDENT

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

and common law, that apply to the determination of essential elements of an offense. See <u>Bottoson</u>, 833 So.2d at 703 (Anstead, C.J., concurring) (noting that Florida state law requires unanimous verdicts); <u>Id.</u> at 710-11 (Shaw, J., concurring) (finding that if <u>Ring</u>'s rationale is applied to Florida's capital sentencing statute, "the statute violates settled principles of state law.")

Indeed, Florida law has long recognized that aggravating circumstances "actually define those crimes...to which the death penalty is applicable in the absence of mitigating circumstances." <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973); see also <u>Hootman v. State</u>, 709 So.2d 1357, 1360 (Fla. 1998) (addition of new aggravating circumstance "alter[s] the definition of the criminal conduct that may subject [the defendant] to the death penalty and increas[es] the punishment of a crime..."), abrogated on jurisdictional grounds, <u>State v. Matute-Chirinos</u> 713 So.2d 1006 (Fla. 1998).

The state argues that "it is incontestable that this Court has repeatedly held that Florida's death sentencing statute, Sec. 921.141, remains constitutional in the wake of challenges raised pursuant to Ring..." (Brief of Petitioner on the Merits, p. 6.) However, this Court has not decided if Ring applies to Florida or under what circumstances it might apply. Windom v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S191 (Fla. May 6, 2004). In fact, no majority view has emerged. Id. In Justice Pariente's specially

concurring opinion there are several statements that establish that this Court has not decided the applicability of <u>Ring</u>. Some of these statements are as follows:

"deciding retroactivity is premature because we have not determined whether Ring has any applicability to Florida's capital sentencing scheme...because a majority of this Court has been able to dispose of post-conviction Ring claims on other grounds, there is no need to decide retroactivity now...we cannot determine whether Ring constitutes a 'development of fundamental significance,' Witt 387 So.2d at 931, until we have ascertained its effect, if any, on Florida's capital sentencing scheme...In contrast, because we cannot yet ascertain the effect of Ring in Florida, we cannot yet reliably determine retroactivity. <u>Id.</u> If and when either this Court or the United States Supreme Court determines in a specific case that Ring has invalidated a Florida death sentence in some respect..." Id.

The opinion is then concluded by the following statement, "In conclusion, I believe that because of the uncertainties in the law created by Ring and yet to be resolved in this State, we would be acting unnecessarily, prematurely, and with no significant conservation of judicial resources in determining at this point whether Ring is retroactive." Windom, 29 Fla. L. Weekly at S191. These statements clearly prove that this Court has not determined if Ring applies to Florida.

The state argues that the trial court's order intrudes into the prosecutorial function, but the trial court is not preventing the state from seeking the death

penalty or limiting the cases where the death penalty can be sought, instead the trial court is simply requiring that the state give notice to the defense of what aggravating factors it is planning to prove. The state also argues that it is not necessary to give notice because the aggravating factors are enumerated in Florida Statutes Section 921.141(15). There are 14 different aggravators listed in this section. Requiring the defense to guess which of the 14 factors will be used is not sufficient to put the defense on adequate notice and violates due process. The state further argues that the discovery process allows the defense to discover what aggravating factors the state is seeking to establish. However, if the defense is able to determine what the aggravating factors are than the state should not be opposed to having to clearly state what they are. The state argues that the trial court's ruling imposes an unwarranted additional discovery burden upon the State that cannot be reciprocated. However, simply stating what factors the state is seeking to establish is not an additional burden, especially considering the state's argument that the defense can determine what the factors are through discovery. Stating what aggravating factors the defendant will need to defend against falls into the same category of notifying the defendant as to what charge he is defending against. Therefore, there is no need for a reciprocal burden.

The trial court's order requiring the state to give adequate notice of those aggravating factors which it intends to submit and argue to the jury as a basis for the imposition of the death penalty does not depart from the essential requirements of law or result in a miscarriage of justice. Therefore, the Second District Court of Appeal erred in granting certiorari in regard to this part of the trial judge's order. The respondent respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the negative and reverse the Second District Court of Appeal's granting of certiorari.

ISSUE II - DOES A TRIAL COURT DEPART FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW, IN A DEATH PENALTY CASE, BY USING A PENALTY PHASE SPECIAL VERDICT FORM THAT DETAILS THE JURORS' DETERMINATION CONCERNING AGGRAVATING FACTORS FOUND BY THE JURY?

The Second District Court of Appeal correctly denied certiorari in regard to the portion of the court order requiring the jury to record their findings on a special verdict form. By doing so, the Second District Court of Appeal held that the trial court's order does not violate the essential requirements of the law and is not a miscarriage of justice. The respondent respectfully requests this court to affirm the Second District Court of Appeal's holding and answer the certified question in the negative.

Florida law does not prohibit a trial judge from using a special verdict form.

Steele, 872 So.2d at 365. The trial court's ruling does not create new law or change the deliberative process of the jury. The requirement of a special verdict form does not invade the province of the jury because it does not affect the way the jury determines their recommendation, but only requires the jury to record its findings. Contrary to the state's position, the special verdict form does not contradict the standard jury instruction because it does not require that the jury be unanimous, only that it record is findings. It also would not cause any confusion to

the jury because it does not alter the jurors' deliberations, but simply requires that the jurors specify how many jurors found each aggravating factor.

In Ring, the United States Supreme Court held that a jury must make the findings of fact necessary to impose the death penalty. Ring, 536 U.S. at 609. In Florida the jury only gives an advisory sentence to the judge, while the judge determines what aggravating and mitigating factors are present and what sentence to impose. While the Florida Supreme Court in King v. Moore, 831 So.143 (Fla. 2002) and Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002) upheld the constitutionality of the Florida statute by a plurality opinion since Ring, it has not determined if Ring applies in Florida. In Windom, this Court upheld the sentence of death, but also stated that the jury's recommendation was unanimous and one of the aggravating factors was a prior violent felony. Windom, 29 Fla. L. Weekly at S191. In Justice Cantero's specially concurring opinion it states,

"I believe we should finally decide the question of whether, even if <u>Ring</u> did apply in Florida (members of this Court disagree on whether it does, and under what circumstances), it would apply retroactively...All states where, in capital cases, a judge was partially or totally responsible for the sentencing decision had to determine whether and under what circumstances <u>Ring</u> applied and whether it required anywhere from a slight change to a total revamping of the sentencing process. In this Court, no majority view has emerged...Neither <u>Bottoson</u> nor

<u>King</u>, therefore, finally settled the question of whether <u>Ring</u> applies in Florida."
Windom, 29 Fla. L. Weekly at S191.

Since the question of whether <u>Ring</u> applies in Florida has still not been answered, as can be seen by these statements, it was prudent of the trial court in this case to take steps to prevent reversal if this Court or the Untied State Supreme Court rules that <u>Ring</u> does apply to Florida. If the law were to change, the trial court's ruling would facilitate appellate review of Mr. Steele's case. By having the jury record its findings, the appellate court will be able to determine if the judge based the sentence on aggravating factors that were found by the jury and by what vote. In addition, if it becomes a requirement that the aggravating factors have to be found by a unanimous jury, the special verdict form would enable the court to determine whether the findings were unanimous and would protect against the case being reversed.

In <u>Ring</u>, the United States Supreme Court described Florida as a hybrid state where a jury gives an advisory sentence to the court. <u>Ring</u>, 536 U.S. at 608. In footnote 11 in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 859 So.2d 465, 486 (Fla. 2003), Judge Pariente in a dissenting opinion stated,

"In a concurring opinion in <u>Way v. State</u>, 760 So.2d 903, 924 (Fla. 2000), I identified Florida as being 'in a small

minority of jurisdictions with a statute that allows the imposition of the death penalty even though the jurors' vote is less than unanimous.' In Ring, the United States Supreme Court named Florida, Alabama, Indiana, and Delaware as the four states having hybrid death schemes involving both judge and jury in the sentencing process. [citations omitted] In Alabama, a jury recommendation of death, which reflects a finding of the existence of at least one aggravating circumstance, requires the vote of at least ten jurors. See Ala. Code § 13A-5-46(f)(2002). Indiana requires a unanimous jury finding of the existence of at least one aggravating circumstance to support a death recommendation, and in legislation passed since Ring. now also requires special verdict forms on aggravating circumstances. See Overstreet v. State, 783 N.E.2d 1140, 1161 (Ind. 2003) (citing to Ind. Code § 35-50-2-9(d), amended by P.L. 117-2002 § 2). Delaware changed its capital sentencing law shortly after the Ring decision and now prohibits a death sentence in the absence of a unanimous jury finding beyond a reasonable doubt of the existence of at least one aggravating circumstance. See 73 Del. Laws 423 (2002) (amending Del. Code Ann. tit.11, § 4209(4)(e)(1)). Thus, of the four hybrid states identified in Ring, Florida is now the sole jurisdiction in which the jury can determine that an aggravating circumstance exists, and thereby recommend death, by a bare majority vote."

Since Florida is the only state remaining that allows a finding of an aggravating circumstance by a bare majority vote, it is likely that this requirement will soon be changed. The trial court's order simply puts measures in place to assist the appellate courts if and when that change occurs.

As in <u>Windom</u>, in the cases decided by the Florida Supreme Court since <u>Ring</u>, the court has based its affirmance on the fact that the jury did find an aggravating factor, such as the defendant having a prior violent felony or committing the murder during a felony or because the jury's finding was unanimous. <u>Fennie v. State</u>, 855 So.2d 597 (Fla. 2003). The language used by the court indicates that if the factors had not been found by the jury or were not unanimous that the court may have reversed based on <u>Ring</u>. In <u>Fennie</u>, in his concurring in part and dissenting in part opinion Judge Anstead stated,

"I find it telling that the majority feels compelled, in this postconviction case, to specifically recognize that the jury's advisory sentence in this case was unanimous and that one of the aggravating circumstances was inherent in the jury's guilt phase conviction. This recognition suggests, of course, that in cases where there is no unanimous recommendation or 'exempt' aggravating circumstance, a postconviction argument based on <u>Ring</u> might be meritorious."

Fennie, 855 So.2d at 611.

Since Florida's death penalty statute is currently under debate, the trial court took the necessary steps to help protect against reversal if there is a change in the law. This action is not against the essential requirements of the law, does not cause irreparable harm to the state, or result in a miscarriage of justice.

In Ring, the Supreme Court held that Arizona's capital sentencing statute violated the Sixth Amendment because it allocated to the judge rather than the jury the responsibility of making the findings of fact necessary to impose a death sentence. Ring, 536 U.S. at 609. The Florida Supreme Court has nevertheless concluded that it must uphold the constitutionality of Florida's statute unless and until the United States Supreme Court overrules Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989) and expressly applies Ring to Florida. See Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So.2d 693 (Fla. 2002) and King v. Moore, 831 So.2d 143 (Fla. 2002). In Bottoson, five justices wrote separately to express their opinion that Florida's statute is problematic under Ring, while concurring in the decision to defer to the United State Supreme Court. <u>Bottoson</u>, 833 So.2d at 703-734. Justice Pariente stated that she would require explicit jury findings on each aggravator, Justice Quince suggested that the jury be given special interrogatories at the penalty phase, and Justice Anstead stated that under the current situation there cannot be any meaningful appellate review because it is impossible to tell which aggravating circumstance were found by the jury and by how many jurors. <u>Id.</u> at 702; 708; 723.

Florida's capital sentencing statute suffers from the identical flaw that led the Court in Ring to declare the Arizona statute unconstitutional. Florida law, like

Arizona law, makes imposition of the death penalty contingent on the judge's factual findings regarding the existence of aggravating factors. Section 775.082(1), Florida Statutes, which prescribes the punishment for a "capital felony," states specifically that a defendant may be sentenced to death only if "the proceeding held to determine sentence according to the procedure set forth in Section 921.141 results in findings by the court that such person shall be punished by death, otherwise, such person shall be punished by life imprisonment." Section 775.082(1), Fla. Stat. (1995). Section 921.141(3), Florida Statutes, provides in turn that "[n]othwithstanding the recommendation of a majority of the jury, the court, after weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, shall enter a sentence of life imprisonment or death." To enter a sentence of death, the judge must make "specific written findings of fact based upon the circumstances in subsections (5) [aggravating circumstances] and (6) [mitigating circumstances] and upon the records of the trial and the sentencing proceedings." Section 921.141 (3), Florida Statutes (2003). Thus, in Florida, as in Arizona, although the maximum sentence authorized for first-degree murder is death, a defendant convicted of first-degree murder cannot be sentenced to death without additional findings of fact that must be made, by explicit requirement of Florida law, by a judge and not a jury. See Bottoson, 833 So.2d at 703-734. Therefore, like the statute in Arizona, the Florida

statute is unconstitutional under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

In Globe v. State, 29 Fla. L. Weekly S119a (Fla. 2004), decided March 18, 2004, three justices wrote a concurring opinion in which they suggested that similar steps as the trial court took in the present case be utilized and that the jury instructions and verdict forms be reevaluated in light of Ring. The concurring opinion states,

"At the very least, jurors should be told that they are the finders of fact on aggravating circumstances. In addition, special verdict forms specifying each aggravating circumstance found by the jury will assist the trial court in determining whether to impose the death penalty, and will also facilitate review by the appellate court, especially in a harmless error analysis. Some trial judges have been using special verdict forms since Ring; in fact, some judges were using special verdict forms even before Ring. I would thus suggest that the Committee on Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases, in conjunction with the Steering Committee on Criminal Law, study the matter and propose changes to the verdict form and instructions on the jury's role in the penalty phase that this Court can then consider and either reject, accept or modify."

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